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Friday, December 7.

FIRST DIVISION.

[Lord Stormonth Darling,
Ordinary.

D. & W. HENDERSON & COMPANY w.
STEWART AND OTHERS.

Company—Liquidation under Supervision
of Court—Compromise with Creditors—
Sanction of Court—Redwction.

‘Where it is found in the liquidation
of a company, while matters are still
entire, that the sanction of the Court
to a compromise between the liquidator
and creditors has been obtained by con-
cealment or non-disclosure of material

facts, although with no fraudulent
intention, such compromise cannot
stand.

In the liguidation of a company
under the supervision of the Court,
the liquidator presented a note to the
Lord Ordinary for approval of a
compromise which he proposed to
make with the directors, who were
creditors of the company for the sum
of £20,000, and claimed to hold a
security of the value of £11,300. The
directors did not appear in the pro-
ceedings under the note. The com-

romise proposed was that they should
Ee held as secured to the amount of
#£10,000, and should be ranked as
ordinary creditors for the balance of
their claim. In his report accompany-
ing the note the liquidator stated
certain objections which might be
urged against the validity and extent
of the security claimed by the directors,
but omitted all reference to the fact
that the deeds conferring the security
had been granted in February 1891 in
respect of advances thereafter to be
made to the company, whereas the
debt of £20,000 had been incurred some
years previously. The Lord Ordinary
sanctioned the compromise.

In an action at the instance of un-
secured creditors of the company, the
Court (aff. judgment of Lord Stormonth
Darling) reduced the interlocutor sanc-
tioning the compromise, on the ground
that it had been pronounced by the
Lord Ordinary in ignorance of material
facts, which it was the duty of the
liquidator to place before the Court.

Opintons by Lord Kinnear and Lord
Adam, that the unsecured creditors, or
a committee of their number, should
have had notice of the proposed com-
promise before it was sanctioned, but
that the failure to give such notice was
not a sufficient greund for setting aside
the compromise.

In 1885 the directors of the State Steam-
ship Company, Limited, for the accom-
modation of the company, discounted with
the Clydesdale Bank a bill for £20,000
accepted by the company in their favour.

This bill was renewed repeatedly by the
bank, who were secured by mortgages
over the company’s steamers, until Febru-
ary 1889, when Mr James Reid Stewart,
one of the directors, agreed himself to
discount the bill at a lower rate than
that charged by the bank. The bill was
accordingly endorsed to Mr Stewart, and
discounted by him. It was subsequently
renewed on several occasions, the last
renewal being on 3rd February 1891,
The directors took no security for the
bill from the company, believing that
the mortgages over the steamers held by
the bank continued good to them. Accord-
ingly prior to and on 12th February 1891
the bill was unsecured.

On that date the directors (as the
minute of meeting showed) resolved
““to carry on the company’s business
as at present, pending a meeting of
the shareholders and the adjustment of
a scheme to be submitted to them, the
necessary funds being obtained from the
Clydesdale Bank on the guarantee of the
directors, the directors to be secured by a
bond of relief by the company, and the
transfer of or a mortgage upon the rever-
sion of the steamers.” At the time the
company were already indebted to the
bank for wvarious advances secured by
mortgages on the steamers and by the
personal guarantee of the directors.

A new account was accordingly opened
with the bank upon the guarantee of the
directors, who received as security Dbills
of sale of the reversion of the steamers
belonging to the company which had been
previously mortgaged to the bank, dated
and registered 17th February 1891.

Upon 4th March 1891 the company re-
solved to go into voluntary liquidation,
and Mr Alexander Moore, C.A., Glasgow,
was appointed liquidator, with a committee
of advice composed of Mr Reid Stewart,
two of the other directors, and three
shareholders.

In April 1891 the steamers which had
been mortgaged to the bank were sold
for £65,500, out of which the bank
received payment of their whole advances,
and discharged their mortgages upon
the vessels. After payment of the debt
due to the bank and other preferable
charges there remained a surplus of about
£11,800. The direetors maintained that
they had a valid security over this surplus
for the debt of £20,000 still due to them.

Upon 19th March 1892 the liquidation was
continued under the supervision of the
Court, and upon 24th March 1892 the
liquidator presented a note to Lord Stor-
month Darling, the Lord Ordinary, to whom
the liquidation had been remitted, for ap-
proval of a compromise which he had
provisionally made with the directors. He
reported that they claimed to be secured
creditors to the extent of #£11,300; that
he declined to accede to their views,
on the ground (1) that the security of
17th February 1891 having been granted
within sixty days of the commencement
of the liquidation was invalid except in
so far as it covered moneys advanced after
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that date, and (2) because they had ex-
ceeded their power to pledge the property
of the company; that the directors, on the
other hand, maintained (1) that, the assets
of the company having been sold before
this question arose, the company could
not be made notour bankrupt, and (2) that
the limitation of their borrowing powers
did not apply; that it appeared to be
doubtful whether the company could be
made notour bankrupt, but that, assuming
the validity of the security, if his second
contention were sound, the directors could
only claim to be secured to the extent of
£8118. The report did not contain any re-
ference to the terms of the directors’ resolu-
tion of 12th February 1891, or to the 164th
section of the Companies Act 1862. The
liquidator asked to be allowed to com-
promise the question by treating the direc-
tors as secured to the extent of£10,000, and
as being entitled to an ordinary ranking for
the balance of their claim. This compromise
was sanctioned by interlocutor dated 25th
March 1892, The directors did not appear
in the proceedings under the note.

In December 1893 Messrs David and
William Henderson & Company, ship-
builders, Partick, creditors of the com-
pany, brought an action of reduction
against Mr James Reid Stewart and others,
lately directors of said company, and
against Mr Moore, the liquidator. By this
action the pursuers sought to have the
bills of sale of the steamers in favour of the
directors and the interlocutor of 25th
March 1892 sustaining the compromise re-
duced, and to have it declared that the
directors were not secured creditors to any
extent. .

They narrated the circumstances set
forth above, and stated that the bills of
sale had been executed on 17th February
1891 solely to secure the directors for any
subsequent advances they might make, and
not to secure the then outstanding debt to
them of £20,000. They averred that the
sanction of the Court to the said com-
promise was obtained upon an insufficient
statement of facts, and upon a suppression
of material facts, which if fully disclosed
would have led the Court to refuse its sanc-
tion. The securities in question were not
only given in point of fact for the £20,000
bill, but were liable to be set aside as fraudu-
lent preferences both at common law and
under section 164 of the Companies Act
1862, which cuts down fraudulent prefer-
ences, and provides that ‘“a resolution of
winding-up the company shall in the case
of a voluntary winding-up be deemed to
correspond with the act of bankruptcy in
the case of an individual trader.” The only
question between the liquidator and the
directors was, whether the latter were en-
‘titled to hold the bills of sale from a hope-
lessly insolvent company under their man-
agement, and which was about to be wound
up, as a valid security for the amount due
to them on the £20,000 bill. But neither
that question nor the essential facts bear-
ing upon it (including the facts disclosed
by the directors’ minutes) were put before
the Court in the said report.

The pursuers pleaded—** (1) The said com-
promise having been sanctioned, and the
interlocutor sought to be reduced having
been pronounced under essential error due
to the suppression by the defenders, or one
or other of them, of material facts as con-
descended on, decree of reduction ought to
be pronounced as craved. (5) In respect
that the said directors had not, at the date
when the compromise was sanctioned, and
never had any right to a preferential rank-
ing, decree ought to be pronounced in
terms of the conclusions of the summons
with expenses.”

The directors pleaded, infer alia — (1)
The pursuers’ averments are irrelevant.
(2) The liquidator having issued a deliver-
ance ranking the defenders as preferable
creditors for £10,000, and said deliverance
not having been appealed against, is
now final. (4) No material facts having
been suppressed or concealed from the
Lord Ordinary when the compromise in
question was sanctioned, the interlocutor
of the Lord Ordinary sanctioning said com-
promise cannot now be reduced. (5) Sepa-
ratim — No material facts having been
suppressed or concealed by the defenders,
and the compromise in question having
been, after full consideration, entered into
by the liguidator, with the advice and con-
sent of the shareholders’ committee, and
subsequently approved of and sanctioned
by the Lord Ordinary, said compromise
cannotnow bereduced. (6) The compromise
in question being a fair and reasonable one,
and having been acted upon as stated, it
cannot now be set aside. (7) The defenders
having, at the date of the compromise in
question, held valid securities over the pro-
perty of the company, as above set forth,
they were entitled toa preferential ranking
for the whole sums for which they were
creditors of the company.”

The liquidator pleaded, infer alia—*(3)
The compromise referred to being lawful
and effected in bona fide, this defender
should be assoilzied.”

Upon 18th July 1894 the Lord Ordinary
(STORMONTH DARLING) pronounced the fol-
lowing interlocutor :—* Finds that the de-
fender James Reid Stewart and the other
directors of the State Steamship Company,
Limited, in whose favour and for whose
behoof the bills of sale and endorsements
or assignations sought to be reduced were
granted, did not under these bills of sale
and indorsements or assignations acquire
or hold any security for the amount con-
tained in the bill {for £20,000 mentioned on
record, and are not entitled to a preferen-
tial ranking for any portion of said sum of
£20,000 in the liquidation of said company :
Allows the defender Alexander Moore to
satisfy the production as regards the inter-
locutor or decree eighth called for in the
summons, and this having been done at
the bar, holds the production satisfied so
far as regards said interlocutor or decree,
holds the record already closed as the record
on the merits, and reduces said interlocu-
tor or decree, and to that extent and effect
decerns and declares in terms of the con-
clusions of the summons,” &c.
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“ Opinion.—When a company is in volun-
tary liquidation, a compromise with credi-
tors requires the sanction of an extraordi-
nary resolution of the company, but where
the liquidation is under the supervision (as
in the case of an official liquidation) a com-
promise can only be made with the sanction
of the Court. The Court is thus a neces-
sary party to the arrangement, and it is
settled by the case of Clarke v, Hinde,
Milne, & Company, 12 R. 347, that if the
sanction of the Court has been granted in
ignorance of material facts the compromise
cannot stand. I should myself be disposed
to add to that statement of the law, that
the same results ought to follow where,
without any actual mistatement or sup-
pression of facts, the question which is the
subject of compromise, has not been fairly
or fully stated to the Court.

“This action is brought by certain credi-
tors in the liquidation of the State Steam-
ship Company, Limited, against the direc-
tors and liquidator of the company, and it
seeks to reduce a compromise between the
directors and the liquidator, which I sanc-
tioned as Lord Ordinary officiating on the
Bills, by interlocutor dated 25th March
1892, six days after the supervision order
had been pronounced.

“The circumstances which led to the
compromise were these. Prior to 12th Feb-
ruary 1891 the company was due to the
directors £20,000, being the amount of a
bill (the last of a series) accepted by the
company to all the directors, and by them
endorsed to the defender Mr Reid Stewart,
one of their number. The earlier bills had
been discounted by the company’s bankers
under a cash-credit, which was secured by
mortgages over the company’s steamers,
but the later bills were discounted by Mr
Stewart personally, and notwithstanding a
somewhat halting allegation in Ans. 3 and
4 for the liquidator, and Stat. 4 for the
directors, it cannot be seriously main-
tained that in Mr Stewart’s hands the bills
were covered by the security held by the
bank. The debt of £20,000 was there-
fore an unsecured debt as at 12th February
1891. On that date the directors had before
them an unfavourable report by a firm of
accountants on the financial position of
the company, and they considered what
steps should be taken in view of possible
liquidation. They were of opinion that it
was desirable to carry on the company’s
Dusiness pending a meeting of sharebolders,
and as this could only be done by raising
money, it was resolved to obtain the neces-
sary funds from the bank on the guarantee
of the directors, who were to be secured by
a bond of relief by the company, and the
transfer of, or a mortgage upon, the rever-
sion of the steamers. In pursuauce of this
arrangement bills of sale in favour of the
directors of the six vessels belonging to the
company were laid before the next meeting
on 17th February, aud the security was
ultimately completed by indorsation of the
policies of insurance on the vessels. On
24th February the directors issued a circu-
lar to the shareholders in which they stated
that, unless a sum of from £80,000 to

£90,000 of additional capital could be raised,
there was no alternative but liquidation;
and at a meeting of shareholders held on
4th March it was resolved that the com-
pany should be wound up voluntarily, and
Mr Moore was appointed liguidator.

“In April 1891 the liquidator, with the
consent of the bank and the directors, sold
the steamers of the company to Messrs
Allan of the Allan Line for £70,000, out of
which the bank received payment of their
whole advances, and discharged their mort-
gages upon the vessels. The directors were
thus relieved of the responsibility which
they had incurred to the bank on 12th Feb-
ruary, and the only claim remaining to
them was the old debt of £20,000 to which I
have referred,

‘‘Now, when the liquidator came to deal
with this claim there were two, and I think
only two, questions with regard to it, viz.,
(first) whether in point of fact the bills of
salewere granted for anything but an imme-
diate advance of money; and (second) if
they were, whether the security was not an
undue or fraudulent preference within the
meaning of section 164 of the Companies A ct
of 1862. The liguidator had some negotia-
tions with the directors, and on 30th March
1891 obtained from them a letter, under
which they agreed that in any question with
them the Companies Act 1836 should be held
to apply, and that their securities should be
dealt with as if the liquidation was being
carried on under the supervision of the
Court, and as if a supervision order had
been pronounced on the date of the letter.
So far the liguidator was proceeding on
right lines. When, a year later, the actual
supervision order was pronounced, and he
applied to the Court for sanction of the
compromisewhich he had provisonallymade
with the directors, he had either lost sight
of thereal questionsatissue, or he contrived
most effectually to obscure them in the
written report which he presented along
with his application.

“On the first of the questions which I
have mentioned the report is altogether
silent. It contains no reterence to the min-
utes of the directors, and it does not call
attention to the fact that as shown there-
by the bills of sale were granted simply and
solely to secure the directors against their
guarantee to the bank. It is nowsaid that,
even though that were the case, they were
entitled to retain the security unfil the
prior debt was paid. 1 do not think they
were. The case of Hamilton v. Western
Bank, 19 D. 152, cited by the defenders, is
no authority for that proposition, because
the bank were there held entitled to retain
their security not for prior, but for subse-
quent advauces, which were held to have
been made on the faith of the security, It
would be a strange result it directors, being
unsecured creditors for a past debt, could
obtain security for it without any stipula-
tion te that effect, and simply by the expe-
dient of undertaking a fresh liability, and
obtaining a security in respect of that.
Neither does the analogy of pledge to which
the defenders appealed afford any support
to their contention, for the subject of the
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pledge must undoubtedly be restored when
the debt for which it was granted has been
paid. The bills of sale are no doubt ab-
solute in their terms, but their effect is con-
trolled by the acknowledgment of the direc-
tors in their own minutes that they were
granted for a particular purpose. It seems
to me therefore that the omission to dis-
close the terms of the minutes was in itself
a fatal flaw in the liquidator’s report.

“0On the second question, the report is
also, I think, most misleading. It makes
no reference to the 164th section of the
Companies Act, and it expends a great deal
of misplaced ingenuity in arguing a ques-
tion about the limit imposed by the articles
of association on the directors’ power to
pledge the property of the company. It
deals with the figures in such a way as to
suggest that the true question was between
the directors’ view on the one hand, that
they were secured to the extent of £11,300,
and unsecured to the extent of £8700, and
the liquidator’s view, on the other, that
they were secured to the extent of £8118,
and unsecured to the extent of £11,882.
If that had been the true question, a com-
promise by which they were to be held as
secured to the extent of £10,000, and un-
secured to the extent of £10,000 might have
been fair enough. There is also a great
deal in the report about the difficulty of
making the company notour bankrupt, but
no point is made of the fact that the bills
of sale (if capable of being held as a secu-
rity for the prior debt) were granted in con-
templation of a winding-up, and within
. sixty days of a resolution to wind up.
Now, the resolution to wind up in the case
of a voluntary liquidation is by the 164th
section made equivalent to the bankruptcy
of an individual trader, and if an individual
trader had granted such a security as this
(assuming it to apply to the prior debt)
within sixty days of his sequestration un-
doubtedly it would have been illegal.

“T have come to the conclusion therefore
that the compromise and my own interlo-
cutor approving of it ought to berescinded.
It might have been impossible to do so if
matters had not been entire, but just as in
Clark’s case the assets are still undivided,
and rescission will not in any way prejudice
the right of the directors to an ordinary
ranking. I say that neither the facts nor
the arguments were fully before me when 1
sanctioned the compromise, and that if
they had been I would have refused to
sanction it. I regret now that I did not
order intimation of the liguidator’s note to
the creditors, or convene a meeting of credi-
tors for consideration of the compromise.
But I do not see that except in that way I
could have acted otherwise than I did on
the materials before me. I demur alto-
gether to the notion that it is the duty of a
judge in a liquidation to act as a detective.
He has not the means of making indepen-
dent investigations, and he must of neces-
sity rely not only on the accuracy and suffi-
ciency of the statements put before him by
the liquidator, but on the exercise of the
liguidator’s discretion being probably sound.
In the vast majority of cases the compro-

mise proposed is the expedient course, and
of the many proposals for compromise
which have come before me within the
last four years I do not remember more
than one in which I refused my sanction.
As it happens, the case occurred in this
very liquidation, but I refused my sanction
not on the ground that the claim was neces-
sarily bad, but that in the circumstances
the claimants ought to be put to proveit.

“If the parties had not joined issue on
the question whether the security was good
it might have been proper to deal only with
the interlocutor sanctioning the compro-
mise, leaving it open to the directors still
to make out their claim to a preference for
the whole £20,000 if they could. But the
question of their right to a preference has
been fully argued with all the parties in
the field, and therefore I think the best
course is to decide not merely that the
sanction of the Court was obtained without
full disclosure of the facts and arguments,
but that the directors are not entitled to
more than an ordinary ranking.

“The debate was conducted by the parties
(and I took the case to avizandum) on the
footing that it was ripe for judgment on
the merits. It now appears that when the
debate took place production had not been
satisfied, but both parties were anxious to
get over this formal difficulty, and accord-
ingly they suggested a form of interlocutor
to which I have given effect.”

The directors reclaimed, and argued—(1}
The action was irrelevant. It was not
said from the beginning to the end of the
record that the directors had done any-
thing they should not have done, or had
abstained from doing anything they should
have done. The whole case was based
upon the alleged fault of the liquidator in
omitting to state all the circumstances he
might have set forth, and in failing to bring
forward certain pleas-in-law. That was no
reason for setting aside the compromise
with the directors. To do that it was
necessary to show fraud on their part in
bringing about or obtaining the sanction
of the Court. They and the liquidator
were at arm’s length in arranging for a
settlement. They were not entitled to
know what passed between the liquidator
and the Court. If they were to know the
weakness of the liquidator’s position they
might object to the compromise. By com-
promising they took their chance, and such
a compromise was protected. The rights
of the other creditors were protected by
the liquidator—See Buckley’s notes on
section 159 of the Companies Act 1862, and
the English cases of re Home Counties
Life Assurance Association, ex parte
Garstin, 1862, 6 L.T. 374; re Leeds Bank-
ing Company ex parte Clarke, 1866, 14
L.'T. 789; in re Ceniral Darjeeling Tea
Company, Weekly Notes, 1866, p. 361. The
only Scotch case where a compromise
sanctioned by the Court had been set
aside was Clark, &c. v. Hinde, Milne, &
Company, Dec. 17, 1884, 12 R. 347, but in that
case there had been active interference on
the part of the creditor. (2) Assuming the
action not to be irrelevant, and that the
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Court might interfere, enough had been
put before the Court when the sanction
was asked to make such a course un-
warranted. It was not suggested that the
directors held securities other than the
bills of sale. The sole question was as to
their rights under them. They claimed
to be secured thereby with respect to their
debt of £20,000, the liquidator saw several
legal difficulties which he could not solve
without the expense of litigation, so he
compromised the case. One legal difficulty
was as to making a company notour bank-
rupt so as to cut down preferences. That
difficulty he had stated to the Court. His
failure to state other difficulties would not
invalidate the compromise, the great
object of which was to avoid all such diffi-
culties. It was argued on the other side
that it was certain the directors held no
security for prior claims. But the title to
the bills of sale was ex facie absolute, and
therefore a complete security, which the
creditors were only bound to reconvey
after all their claims of whatever date had
been satisfied—Robertson v. Duff, 1840,
2 D. 279; Hamilton v. Western Bank,
1856, 19 D. 152; National Bank v. Forbes,
1858, 21 D. 79. The Court was not bound
to institute further inquiries. Its function
was to enable the liquidator to carry out
compromises upon being satisfied that the
liquidator had fairly and fully considered
the matter. The application of the 164th
section of the Act of 1862 was not free from
difficulty — National Bank v. Macqueen,
July 13, 1881, 18 S.L.R. 683; Benhar Coal
Company v. Turnbull, February 6, 1883,
10 R. 558.

Argued for the liquidator—He had en-
deavoured to give the Court all the in-
formatien then in his knowledge.

Argued for the respondents—The Lord
Ordinary’s judgment was right. He ex-
plained how he had been misled, and in
face of that explanation it was impossible
the sanction given under misapprehension
could stand. His duty was not merely to
confirm the liquidator’s opinion; he had
to exercise a judicial function after being
informed of all the facts—Northumberland
and Durham District Banking Company,
1860, 1 Drewry & Small, 273. The liquida-
tor had failed to set forth material facts,
particularly the terms of the resolution of
12th February 1891; that was sufficient to set
aside the compromise. It was not neces-
sary to show essential error or fraud. The
minute of 12th February 1891 showed that
the security to be given was for particular
advances thereafter to be made. The trans-
action was also bad under section 164 of
the Companies Act—Gaslight Improvement
Company v. Terrell, 1870, L.R., 10 Eq. 168.
““Act of bankruptcy” as applied to Scot-
land plainly meant the same as notour
bankruptcy.

At advising—

Lorp KINNEAR—The pursuers are credi-
tors of the State Steamship Company in
liquidation, and they bring this action for
reduction of certain bills of sale which the
defenders, who were directors of the com-

pany, claimed to held in security of certain
debts due to them by the company, for
reduction of an interlocutor pronounced by
Lord Stormonth Darling on the 25th March
1892 sanctioning a compromise with the
defenders, and authorising the liquidator
to allow the securities in question to stand
as valid securities in favour of the de-
fenders to the extent of #£10,000, and for
declarator that the defenders are not en-
titled to have a preferential ranking to any
extent in the liquidation, and that the pre-
ference which has been allowed is null
and void.

The parties are not entirely at one as
to the financial position of the company
when it resolved to wind up. But it is
admitted that it bhad sustained heavy
losses in the autumn and winter of 1890
and in the beginning of 1891, and that on
the 4th of March 1891 it resolved to wind
up voluntarily on the ground that *on
account of its liabilities it could not con-
tinue its business.” At the same meeting
the defender, Mr Moore, was appointed
liquidator, with power to carry on the
business for such time-'as he might think
proper, and a Committee of Advice was
appointed to consult with him, consisting
of six shareholders, three of whom had
been directors, and are now defenders
in this action. On the 10th of March 1892
an order was pronounced continuing the
liquidation under the supervision of the
Court, and confirming the appointment of
the liguidator and the Committee of Advice,
and on the 24th of March 1892 the liquida-
tor presented a note to Lord Stormonth
Darling for approval of the compromise
in question.

The claim which forms the subject of
the compromise arises out of a transaction
which is recorded in a minute of meeting
of the directors on the 12th February 1891,
a little less than a month before the resoclu-
tion to wind up. At this meeting the
directors reselved ‘‘to carry on the com-
pany’s business as at present pending a
meeting of the shareholders, and the ad-
justment of a scheme to be submitted to
them, the necessary funds being obtained
from the bank on the guarantee of the
directors, the directors to be secured by a
bond of relief by the company, and the
transfer of or a mortgage upon the re-
version of the steamers.” This arrange-
ment was carried out, and on the 17th of
February a bond of relief by the company
in favour of Messrs James Reid Stewart,
Thomas Reid, Robert Dick, Thomas M.
Ferguson, Peter Hutchison, and James
Wilson, was laid before the meeting ; and
also bills of sale by the company in favour
of the same gentlemen, of the s.s. ““State
of Nevada,” ‘‘State of Indiana,” ‘“State of
Georgia,” ‘“State of Nebraska,” ¢State of
Pennsylvania” and “State of Alabama,”
which were duly signed and sealed.

It appears that at the date when this
arrangement was made the company was
already indebted to the Clydesdale Bank for
very considerable sums, which the bank had
advanced on the security of mortgages over
the six steamships, and on the guarantee
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of the directors. In consequence of the
arrangement of 12th February additional
advances were made upon the same terms,
and there can be no question that all of these
advances were validly secured, the advances
on the first account by the mortgages tothe
bank, and the advances on the second by
the bills of sale in favour of the directors,
But there was at the same time a separate
debt of #£20,000 due to the directors for
which they held no security whatever.
In 1885 they had discounted with the
Clydesdale Bank an acceptance to that
amount by the company in their favour as
individuals, and the advance so obtained
was continued by repeated renewals of the
bill until February 1889. At that date it
was arranged that instead of discounting
a renewal bill with the bank as before,
the bill should be discounted at alower rate
by Mr James Reid Stewart, one of the de-
fenders, and this was accordingly done.
There can be no doubt that the bill was
discounted, and that the defenders became
liable for the amount on the under-
standing that they should be relieved of
responsibility by the company. But they
took no security for that relief over the
property of the company or any part of it,
and on the 12th February, when they took
bills of sale for the new liability they were
then undertaking, their claim under the
bill for £20,000 was still unsecured. In the
course of the liquidation the steamships
were sold by the liquidator with concur-
rence of the bank and the directors. It is
not disputed that the debts due to the bank
are a first charge upon the price. But a
surplus remains after these have been satis-
fied, and the directors maintain that they
have a security over the proceeds of sale
for relief of the £20,000 bill also, and conse-
quently that they are entitled to a prefer-
able ranking for that sum.

No claim was lodged by the directors in
the liquidation until after the Lord Ordi-
nary had pronounced the interlocutor of
26th March 1892, and we have accordingly
no record of the grounds en which the claim
for preference was maintained by them or
resisted by the liquidators, excepting the
liquidator’s report to the Lord Ordinary.
But the defenders aver on record that they
rested their claim on two grounds, first,
that they were entitled toretain thesteamers
or the proceeds thereof under the mort-
gages held by the bank ; and secondly, that
they were so entitled under the absolute bills
of sale which had been granted in their
favour on the 17th of February. The first
ground appears to have been founded on
their belief that the £20,000 bill was covered
by the securities held by the bank in the
same manner as if it had been discounted
by the bank instead of by Mr Stewart. [
do not understand it to be now maintained
that this is in law a tenable ground of pre-
ference, and it is certain that it was not
brought before the Lord Ordinary as a rea-
son for sustaining the compromise. The
second ground is rested on the doctrine of
law that a disponee or assignee possessing
under a title ex facie absolute may, when
called upon to denude in favour of the true

owuer, retain the subject until all the obli-
gations incumbent on the owner to him
shall be fulfilled, whether they have been
incurred before or after thedate of the con-
veyance in his favour. To this contention
there are two answers, first, that if the ab-
solute title is shown by back-bond or other
competent evidence to have been given in
security of a particular debt specially con-
templated by the parties, such security
cannot be extended by the principle of
retention to other debts previously due, and
known to the parties, and that the minute
of 12th February shows that the bills of sale
then authorised were intended to form a
security for the new liability then under-
taken,and not for any prior debt whatever;
and second, that if the bills of sale were in
fact intended as a security for prior debts,
the transaction is challengeable both at
common law and under the statutes, as an
undue preference which the directors at-
tempted to give to themselves to the preju-
dice of prior creditors when the company
was on the eve of liquidation.

I assume for the present that both of
these points might reasonably be con-
sidered doubtful so as to justify the liquida-
tor in compromising the claim, and if the
validity of the compromise depended solely
on the contract between the liquidator and
the defenders, there seems to be no reason
why it should not receive effect. No
material fact that was known to the
defenders was concealed from the liquida-
tor, and he had the same means as they
had for forming a sound judgment as
to the expediency of the arrangement.

The question is, whether the agreement
has been validly sanctioned by the Lord
Ordinary.

An objection is taken to the procedure,
inasmuch as no notice was given to the
creditors either of the proposal to com-
promise, or of the application to the Lord
Ordinary. I agree with an observation of
the Lord Ordinary that it would have been
well that such notice had been given. The
creditors were the only persons interested
in the question, and it appears to me not
only that they or a committee of their
number if they were too numerous to be
consulted individually, should have had
notice of the proposed agreement, but that
their decision as to the acceptance of a
compromise might have been coneclusive
unless they were so far divided in opinion
as to make it necessary for the liquidator
to intervene. There may be cases in which
the separate interest of a particular class
of creditors must be subordinate to the
general interest of the liguidation. But
the only question to be considered in the
present case was whether the claim of the
directors for a preference should be re-
sisted in the interest of the unsecured
creditors. That is a question which they
might well have been allowed to decide for
themselves, and whether their decision
would have been final or not, it appears to
me that a compromise ought not to have
been forced upon them without giving
them an opportunity of objecting. But
this is not an objection that in itself would



126

The Scottish Law Reporter—Vol. XX X11 [D-&W Henderson & Co,

ec. 7, 1804,

be fatal to the validity of an agreement
which had been sanctioned by the Court.
The unsecured creditors are only indirectly
affected by the compromise with the direc-
tors. They were not parties to it, and
accordingly I do not understand it to be
disputed that, if the compromise had been
duly sanctioned, the creditors must submit
to the consequent diminution of the funds
available for payment of their debts. The
objection is no more than a criticism of the
procedure. But the pursuers are at least
entitled to say that, if the liquidator did not
think fit to inform them of his proceedings,
it was all the more incumbent on him to
exercise vigilance on their behalf, and to
take care that the grounds on which the
directors’ claim might be resisted were
fully and accurately stated to the Lord
Ordinary, and they allege that he failed in
this duty in two respects.

It is said that the Lord Ordinary was
misled by the concealment or non-dis-
closure of the fact on which the claim for
a preference depends, and also by the
liquidator’s failure to bring wunder his
notice the terms of the 164th section of
the Companies Act 1862,

The last point does not appear to me to
be material.

The Court is familiar with the statute
under which it conducts or supervises
liguidations; and the Lord Ordinary must
be supposed to have considered for him-
self the clauses bearing on a question which
had been fairly stated to him. But if it
were otherwise, the failure of the liquida-
tor to raise the proper argument on a point
of law would appear to me to be no ground
for disturbing a compromise. There would
be no room for transaction if the legal
rights of parties had been completely ascer-
tained, and every compromise therefore
assumes that points of law may have been
overlooked or misunderstood.

But the other objection is much more
formidable. The directors’ right to a pre-
ference depends upon the meaning and

legal effect of the minute of 12th February -

1891, and that minute was not laid before
the Lord Ordinary. It is said that it was
for his Lordship to consider whether he had
sutficient materials before him to deter-
mine his discretion, and that might have
been a good answer if the question had
been fairly raised. But there is nothing
in the liquidator’s report to suggest that
any question as to the existence of the
alleged security had been or could be

raised. The Lord Ordinary read the
report as meaning that in fact the
directors held an undoubted security

for the debt in question, which was
impeachable only becanse it had been
granted within sixty days of the liquida-
tion, and on no other ground, and that is
the natural construction of the report. It
is possible to infer from the liquidator’s
statement that the security was constituted
by bills of sale ex facie absolute, and it may
be also that these bills of sale had been
granted in relief of the obligation under-
taken on the 19th of February. But there
is nothing to suggest that the terms of the

arrangement were expressed ip any writing
other than the bills of sale themselves, or
that they implied, or could be alleged to
imply a limitation of the security. I think
therefore that the question on which the
Lord Ordinary was called upon to exercise
a judicial discretion was not fairly stated.
He was asked to consider whether a claim
founded on a security granted within sixty
days of the liquidation should be compro-
mised or resisted. He was not informed
that the application of the security to the
debt was in any way open to question, and
the facts which would have shown that
such a question might be raised were not
brought before him. His Lordship there-
fore sanctioned the compromise in ignor-
ance of material facts.

Now, if the misapprehension of the Lord
Ordinary had been caused by the state-
ments of the defenders, I do not under-
stand it to be maintained that they could
have held a compromise sanctioned in error
induced by themselves. But it is said that
they are adverse parties, dealing at arm’s
length with the liquidator, and that the
validity of their contract with him must be
determined on precisely the same principles
as if he were contracting on his own
account, or for others whom he had full
authority to bind ; that the sanction of the
Court is required to supplement the defec-
tive authority of the liquidator, but that
creditors with whom the liquidator con-
tracts have no concern with the grounds on
which it is given or withheld, and no duty
in the matter except to deal fairly with the
liquidator himself. They are not respon-
sible for the statements by which the Lord
Ordinarﬂ may have been influenced, and
even if his sanction had been procured by
false and fraudulent representations, the
contract so sanctioned could not be set
aside in a question with them unless they
had themselves been parties to the fraud.

This appears to me to proceed upon a
misconception of the relative position of
the parties and the Court. So far as the
liguidator is concerned, it may be that a
creditor contracts with him at arm’s length.
The proceedings are not analogous to pro-
ceedings in bankruptey, and the liquidator
has certainly power to settle claims by
agreement. But when the sanction of the
Court is required the position is entirely
altered. The Judge is not a party to the
agreement. Nor is he the mere adviser of
the liquidator. His function is always and
necessarily judicial. The conditions on
which the Court must give or withhold its
sanction have been stated by Lord Romilly
in the case of the Northumberland and
District Bank, 1 Drewry & Small, 273.
The Court is asked ‘“to exercise a
judicial discretion, which is in effect a
judicial judgment, not on a point of
law, but on a point of expediency and
propriety.” The Judge therefore cannot
authorise or direct the liquidator to make
a compromise without exercising his judg-
ment on the propriety and expediency of
that compromise, and that cannot be done
without knowledge of all the facts and
circumstances by which his judgment
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should be determined. I think it follows
that parties to a compromise which is sub-
mitted for sanction are both of them parties
before the Court, and it is the duty of both
to state the facts by which the discretion of
the Court is to be determined fully and cor-
rectly, or to see that they are fully and cor-
rectly stated. I cannot assent to the view
taken by the Lord Ordinary, that the Court
is entitled to rely on the liquidator’s discre-
tion. His opinion is entitled to weight, be-
cause he is more intimately acquainted
than the Court can be with the concerns of
the company. But the Court must exer-
cise an independent judgment, and cannot
delegate its authority to the liguidator.

It is said that the liquidator alone has an
opportunity of being heard. But that is
an entire misconception. In my experience
the rule has been that when an agreement
is submitted for the sanction of a judge,
both parties have been called upon to
attend in Court or in chambers to explain
and support it. If the Lord Ordinary
thought this unnecessary in the present
case, the defenders were nevertheless en-
titled, if they had desired, to appear and be
heard in support of the agreement, and, if
they did not think fit to exercise that right,
they had an earlier opportunity of stating
their claim in such a manner as to bring it
before the Lord Ordinary on their own
responsibility. The ordinary course is
that a creditor inaliquidation should lodge
his claim with the ligquidator, setting forth
specifically the grounds in fact and law on
which it is based, and if he discharges that
duty for himself so that his claim may be
laid before the Court in his own language,
it may be that he is not responsible for
anything the liquidator may add without
his knowledge. But if instead of follow-
ing the regular course of procedure he
chooses to make a verbal bargain with the
liquidator, and leaves the liquidator tostate
his claim for him to the Court, he must be
respousible for the omissions or false state-
meuts of the liquidator as if they had been
made by himself. He has in effect made
the liquidator his agent to state his case to
the Court.

But there is an additional reason for
holding that the defenders must accept the
liquidator’s statement as if it had been
made by themselves. Three of the defen-
ders were members of the Shareholders’
Committee of Advice, and it is averred on
record that the terms of compromise were
submitted to and approved by that com-
mittee, and further, it is not said that they
or that the defenders who were not mem-
bers of the committee were ignorant of the
terms of the report, and I think such an
averment is necessary to support the case
now made for them in so far as it rests on
a denial of their responsibility for the ligui-
dator’s statements.

It is right to say that I see no reason for
supposing that either the liguidator or the
defendersintended toconceal anythingfrom
the Lord Ordinary which they themselves
thought material. I should infer from the
report and the statements on record that
the defenders believed they held a valid

security for the £20,000 bill, but without
having any clear conception of the manner
in which it had been constituted. At
all events, 1 do not suppose they had
adverted to the importance of the minute
of 12th February. But the result is, that,
however honestly, they have laid before the
Lord Ordinary through the liquidator an
imperfect statement of their case, with the
effect of misleading his Lordship as to the
true question which it was proposed to
settle, The only question on which his
Lordship was moved to authorise a com-
promise was, whether a security otherwise
valid had been cut down by a supervening
liguidation. He was not informed that
there was a prior question whether the
defenders as creditors held any security
whatever for the only debt which still
remains due. lt appears to me therefore
that the Lord Ordinary gave no real sanc-
tion to the compromise. As the funds are
still in the hands of the liquidator, who
holds them as trustee for equal distribution
among the creditors, it is not too late to
set aside the interlocutor and the agree-
ment following upon it, so as to allow the
questions in dispute to be determined on
their merits.

I do net think Clark v. Hinde, Milne, &
Company, to which the Lord Ordinary
refers, is directly in point. The question
was not whether the compromise which
the Court had sanctioned should bereduced
as between the preferred creditor and the
general body of creditors, but whether
particular creditors who had acquired the
same security by the diligence of poinding
as the preferred creditor should be allowed,
notwithstanding the terms of the com-
promise with him, to participate with him
in the proceeds of poinded goods. Their
claims had not been brought before the
Court when the compromise was sanetioned,
and their existence was designedly con-
cealed by the preferred creditor. The case
therefore appears to be distinguishable.
But, irrespective of previous decisions, I
think we must hold that where it is found,
while matters are still entire, that the
sanction of the Court has been obtained by
concealment or non-disclosure, although
with no fraudulent intention, of material
facts, a compromise so sanctioned ought
not to stand.

LorDp ApaM—I agree with Lord Kinnear.
‘What has struck me throughout these pro-
ceedings is that the question which was
the subject of compromise or attempted
compromise was entirely a question, so far
as I can see, between the secured and the
unsecured creditors, and it was a very im-
portant question, because the resnit
of the compromise, if it be sus-
tained, is this, that out of a balance stated
to amount to about £12,000, no less than
£10,000 will be carried away by the secured
creditors, leaving them still to claim for
another £10,000 on the balance of £2000.
Now, that was a very serious question for
the unsecured creditors, and yet, so far as
I can see, throughout the whole of these
proceedings it never seems to have occurred
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to the liquidator to consult these creditors,
whose interests he had taken in hand and
proposed to compromise, as to whether
they wished or did not wish such a com-
promise. So far as I can see, there would
have been no prejudice to the company in
this case to have allowed the creditors, both
secured and unsecured, to have fought out
their quarrel to the end; and if the liguida-
tor had consulted the unsecured creditors
he would not only have ascertained their
wishes, but very probably he would have
ascertained that which he never seems to
have appreciated, viz., what the true issue
between the parties was, and the grounds
on which the pursuers maintained and now
maintain that no security was ever
created by the bills of sale of February
1891 in favour of the defenders in respect of
the debt for which they now claim.
But throughout these proceedings, so far
as I can see, there is not a trace that,
although the liquidator charged himself
with the interests of these unsecured
creditors, he ever approached them in one
way or other to let them know what he
proposed to do with reference to this
matter. I agree with Lord Kinnear that
there may be cases in which, there being
a division of opinion among the unsecured
creditors as to whether they should com-
promise or not, it would be quite right for
the liguidator to compromise, and that the
company through the liquidator wonld
have an interest in the compromise being
carried out. But I do not see that in this
case the company was concerned very
much in the matter at all. I also agree
with Lord Kinnear that that alone would
not justify the reduction of a compromise,
but I think it would place a heavy onus
on the liquidator who had charged himself
with the interests of third parties, to see
that their interests were in no way pre-
judiced by what he did. It may not have
been incompetent in the liquidator to have
settled the claim, but I cannot say that his
proceedings in the matter were very
judicious. I also agree with Lord Kinnear
that the Court in sanctioning a com-
promise under these Acts is exercis-
ing always a judicial discretion. It
was very forcibly argued to us by Mr
Asher that in obtaining the sanction of the
Jourt the parties were acting as parties at
arm’s length, that the liquidator had ample
power to compromise, that it was his duty
alone to obtain the sanction of the Court,
and that it did not affect the directors
what representation of the case was
made to the Court, and on what re-
presentation the sanction of the Court
was obtained. I do not at all agree
with that proposition. I think the duty of
the Court in this matter is, as set out by
Lord Romilly, as quoted by Lord Kinnear,
to exercise a judicial discretion, and that all
material facts must be before the Court
before they can possibly give their sanction
in such a matter, and that if material facts
are withheld from the Court any sanction
obtained in such circumstances cannot
stand. I think with Lord Kinnear that it
is as much the duty of the one party as the

other to see that all the facts are before the
Court when obtaining such sanction, Now,
it appears to me to be quite clear that in
this case that wasnot done. Wenow know
that the most material fact atissue between
the secured and the unsecured creditors
was this, whether or not there had ever
been a security created in favour of those

claiming to be secured by the bills
of sale granted in February 1891. That is
the great question at issue, and on

that question the Lord Ordinary’s opinion
on the merits is that there was none. I do
not think it necessary for the decision of
the question as to whether the sanc-
tion should stand or mnot, to decide
whether the Lord Ordinary is right on
that matter, because, whether he is right
or wrong, it certainly is shown that
there was a most material question at issue
between the parties, whether such a secu-
rity ever was created or ever existed, and
that was a most material fact to be before
the Lord Ordinary in deciding whether
there should be a compromise or what the
terms of the compromise should he, But
that question wasnever brought before the
Lord Ordinary’s consideration. He was
asked ‘‘to approve of the proposed com-
promise, and to authorise the liquidator to
allow the security created by the bills of
sale in favour of” so-and-so, dated 17th
February 1891, to stand to the extent of
£10,000. That was the way in which it was
put to the Lord Ordinary, as if it was a
security which apparently no one disputed,
and as if the question for his consideration
was whether he would sanction the pro-
posal that that security should stand as a
preferable security to the extent of £10,000.
The report of the liquidator deals
with the claims on the estate, and
the claim of the directors is dealt
with, and the liquidator says —
“ The liquidator declined to accede to this
view upon the ground (1) that the security
of 17th February 1891 having been granted
within sixty days of the commence-
ment of the liquidation was invalid, ex-
cept in so far as it covered moneys
advanced after that date; and (2) because
the power of the directors to pledge the
property of the company for moneys bor-
rowed was limited by the articles of asso-
ciation to £50,000,” That is the matter
which the Lord Ordinary was asked to
consider, and he was never informed that
there was any doubt or question as to it
being a good security. This being so, the
next question is whether that is a suffi-
cient ground for setting aside the sanction
granted by the Lord Ordinary. It issaid
that, though the question is not specifically
set forth, there are sufficient facts stated
in the report to enable the Lord Ordinary
to find out for himself that possibly the
security might not be a good one. Per-
haps if the mind of the Lord Ordinary had
not, if I may so say, been diverted from
the real question between the parties; if
he had been asked to consider the facts so
far as stated, and to say whether it was
or was not certain that the creditors had a
security created by the bills of sale, it
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might have been that some doubts would
have been raised in the Lord Ordinary’s
mind as to whether or not they had such a
security. But he was told that nobody
questioned that there was a security so
created, and apart from that the mate-
rial facts were not laid before the Lord
Ordinary. As Lord Kinnear has pointed
out, the whole material facts as to whether
this constituted a good security or not were
contained in the minutes, which show that
there was a special agreement as to the
terms in which the bills of sale were
granted, which would have been a most
material fact in the question whether or
not they did create a valid security. But
these were never brought under the con-
sideration of the Lord Ordinary. Upon the
whole matter, I have no hesitation in agree-
ing with Lord Kinnear that the sanction
obtained from the Lord Ordinary in these
circumstances cannot be sustained, _and
although great weight might be given
to the views or the recommendations of the
ligquidator, that cannot relieve the Lord
Ordinary or the Court from considering
the whole facts in order to enable them to
come to a proper decision.

LorpD M‘LAREN—I have had from the

beginning a strong impression that we
could not sanction a compromise to which
the Lord Ordinary’s approval was neces-
sary, when we were informed by the judge
that he would not have given that appro-
val if the facts of the case had been fully
before him. .
Without recapitulating the facts which
have been stated by Lord Kinnear, I may
begin by observing that the facts disclosed
three objections to the preference claimed
by the directors of this steamship com-
pany over the proceeds of the sale of the
ships. Two of these objections were brought
unlger the notice of the Lord Ordinary in
the official report which the liquidator pre-
sented along with his note asking the
judge’s approval of the compromise into
which he had provisionally entered. In
this report it is stated that the directors
held a transfer of the ships which were the
property of the insolvent firm in security
of advances, but that, the company having
gone into liquidation within sixty days after
the date of the transfer, he, the liquidator,
had put forward the objection that the
security was reducible under the statute of
1696. ‘At the same time, he explained that
there were technical difficulties as to mak-
ing the company notour bankrupt within
the statutory period, and this difficulty
made it expedient that the question should
be treated as a subjeet of compromise. It
is objected to this statement of the ques-
tion that the liquidator did not call the
attention of the Lord Ordinary to the pro-
visions of the 164th section of the Com-
panies Act, which makes the liquidation it-
self in certain circumstances equivalent to
an act of bankruptcy. I may say that Ido
not entertain any doubt that the 164th sec-
tion is applicable to Scotland, and is effec-
tive to cut down preferences to the same
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extent to which these would be cut down
by any other act or state of circumstances
which the law has declared to be equiva-
lent to notour bankruptcy. There are not
two kinds of bankruptcy known to our
law, and the absence of the qualifying
word ‘“‘notour” in an enactment which
applies to the United Kingdom doesnot in
my mind raise any difficulty as to the
meaning and effect of the statutory provi-
sion.

But then this is a liguidation under the
Companies Act, and while it may be very
proper that the ligquidator should invite
the attention of the judge to these provi-
sions of the Act which were material to the
point under consideration, I think it must
be held that the whole Aet was before the
judge; and the omission on the part of the
liquidator to deal with a question of com-
pany law, while it may suggest a doubt
whether this compromise was properly con-
sidered, cannot have the effect of nullifying
the compromise after it has received the
necessary judicial approval.

On the second objection to the prefer-
ence claimed by the directors, that they
had exceeded their borrowing powers, I
shall say nothing, because it is fully dis-
cussed in the liquidator’s report, and it is
not said that there was any omission in
regard to the statement of this part of the
case.

There remains for consideration the effect
to be attributed to the third objection to
the preference—the most important of the
three—which is, that as a matter of fact the
directors held no security for a liability
amounting to £20,000 which they had
undertaken on behalf of the company by
becoming parties to a bill discounted by
one of their number.

The case of the pursuers is that no notice
whatever is taken of this objection, or the
facts on which it is founded, in the report

. submitted to the Lord Ordinary. I am free

to say that, after an attentive study of the
report, I cannot find in it any reference to
the circumstance that the security held by
the directors was not in effect a security
covering the liability on the £20,000 bill.
The omission is the more remarkable—in-
deed inexplicable — because the report
plainly shows that it was this very sum of
£20,000 which the liquidator proposed to
compromise on equal terms by sustaining
the directors’ preference to the extent of
£10,000.

The minutes of the board of directors dis-
close that the security which they hold
was acquired after this liability had been
incurred, and that the ships were taken by
them in pledge for a different purpose alto-
gether, viz., in relief of their obligations to
their bankers under credits which they
had obtained for the company on their per-
sonal responsibility. The words of the
minute are—[Its lerms are given abovel.
Now, it is quite true that persons who sus-
tain a fiduciary character have a general
right of retention over estate of the benefi-
ciary coming into their hands in the ordi-
nary course of business; and if, for ex-

NO. IX.
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ample, these ships had been reconveyed to
the directors by amortgagee whose advances
were being paid off, it may very well be
that the directors might have claimed in
bankruptcy to retain the ships against past
as well as subsequent advances, But, in the
actual case, the security was the act of the
directors themselves, and in such circum-
stances, and in view of the minute, equiva-
lent to a declaration of trust, limiting the
effect of the proposed transfer to a secu-
rity for specific debts, I fail to see that
the directors could have any general secu-
rity or right of retention for past ad-
vances. The subsequent minute, stating
that the individual directors were to hold
the ships in security of advances made or
to be made, cannot in my opinion affect the
question, because the directors could not
in my view extend the operation of the
security so as to cover past advances.

But the immediate question is not
whether the directors could have made
good a claim to retain for past advances, but
whether the non-disclosure of the objection
to the security amounts to the suppression
of a material fact which deprives the Lord
Ordinary’s assent to the compromise of the
authority otherwise due to it. I think that
the report when fairly read amounts to the
statement that the directors held the ships
in security of advances generally, including
the £20,000 liability, and this statement is
not consistent with the terms of the minute
defining the purposeof the transfer, The Lord
Ordinary states in his judgment that, if the
terms of the transaction had been before
him, he would not have given his sanction
to the compromise, and it is palpable that,
with the knowledge which we now have
of the facts of the case, the compromise
was not a fair one. That being so, I think
that a judicial compromise which is affected
by error in essentialibus may be annulled
under the same conditions as any other
agreement. The creditors, whose interests
are affected, are not responsible for the
erroneous statement, and I think that the
directors must be taken to be responsible
for it, because it was in setting forth their
case that the error was committed ; it was
their representation that they held the
ships in security of the liability in dispute.

I have had some doubts as to whether we
could do more in this case than to reduce
the Lord Ordinary’s decree. But we were
invited by counsel on both sides to ad-
judicate on the validity of the directors’
claim, and I think we are now in a position
to do so, provided it is made clear that
neither of the parties desires a proof.

LorDp PRESIDENT—I agree with the opin-
ion of Lord Kinnear, and, with reference to
the point last adverted to by Lord M‘Laren,
I understand the prevalent opinion to be
that the safer course would be to stop
short of reducing the compromise and to
restrict our decree of reduction to the
decree of the Court sanctioning the com-
promise. That being your Lordships’ view,

robably the most convenient course would
e to recal the Lord Ordinary’s interlocutor,
which does a great variety of things, and to

of new repel the defences as preliminary,
reserving them on the merits, hold the
production as satisfied, close the record, and
reduce the decree. Then, as regards the
future proceeding in the case, perhaps the
parties will consider whether they could
by minute of admissions place the case in
shape for decision and renounce probation,
but shonld that not be done it would be
necessary that there should be an allow-
ance of proof.

The Court pronounced the following
interlocutor :—

“The Lords having considered the
reclaiming-note for James Reid Stewart
and others against the interlocutor of
Lord Stormonth Darling dated 18th
July 1894, and heard counsel for the
parties, Adhere to the said interlocutor
in so far as it repels the defences, so far
as preliminary, reserving them as de-
fences on the merits; allow the de-
fender, Alexander Moore, to satisfy the
produetion as regards the interlocutor
or decree called for in the summens,
and hold the production satisfied so
far as regards the said interlocutor or
decree; hold the record already closed
as the record on the merits, and reduce
the said interlocutor or decree: Quoad
ultra recal the interlocutor reclaimed
against in hoc statu, and continue the
cause: Find the defenders, James Reid
Stewart and others, liable to the pur-
suers in expenses from the date of the
interlocutor reclaimed against,” &c.

The directors subsequently lodged a
minute consenting to the reduction of the
bills of sale and to declarator that they
were not entitled to any preferential
ranking.

Counsel for the Pursuers—Ure—Salvesen.
Agents — Hamilton, Kinnear, & Beatson,
W.S.

Counsel for the Directors—Asher, Q.C.
S—g&i&ken. Agent—P, Gardiner Gillespie,

Counsel for the Liquidator—C. S. Dickson
— Younger. Agents— Webster, Will, &
Ritchie, 8.8.C.

Friday, December 7.

SECOND DIVISION.
[Lord Low, Ordinary.
RICHARD’'S TRUSTEES v. ROLAND.

Succession— Vesting—No Gift Apart from
Direction to Pay—Destination to Chil-
dren, whom Failing their Issue.

A testator directed his trustees to
hold the residue of his estate so long as
his wife survived him, and from the
free annual income to pay her an
annuity of #£2000, and to divide the
balance of the income equally among
his children nominatim. On the death



